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Global pandemic 
– local response 



Though we are traditionally known for aeromedical emergency services in unforgiving landscapes, 
harsh climates and isolated communities – this is only part of the RFDS story. With more than 
nine decades of experience, today the RFDS operates an expansive medical emergency and 
primary healthcare service throughout Australia. This includes 24/7 telehealth services, primary 
healthcare clinics, dental and mental health services, allied health and occupational therapy (OT) 
services, and testing/respiratory clinics for COVID-19, transporting COVID-19 patients, and  
a far-reaching COVID-19 vaccination program for communities both within and outside our 
traditional service footprint.

We work to improve health outcomes for country Australia and for that reason, we remain one of 
Australia’s most trusted charities. 

The RFDS journey is one of innovation, grit and determination. It is about the patient, regardless 
of the challenges that presents. Moving towards our centennial celebrations in 2028, this focus 
will be paramount. RFDS research and collaboration with governments, industry, partners and 
communities will continue to overcome the disparity in health outcomes for people in the bush.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service has been providing 
medical services to country Australia since 1928.

Mission
To provide excellence in 
aeromedical and primary 
health care across Australia

Values
Dedication 
Integrity 
Innovation
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Message from the  
Federation Board Chair and 
Federation Executive Director

When Reverend John Flynn, Founder of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service (RFDS), envisioned a ‘mantle of safety’ for 
Australians living beyond the reach of healthcare services, 
he was more likely to be thinking about an accident on 
a remote station rather than a pandemic.

And yet, as the world starts to emerge from the ravages 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, the RFDS has spent the year 
providing essential health services on a scale that John Flynn 
could never have imagined.

Since the beginning of the crisis, RFDS teams have 
transported nearly 5,000 COVID-positive or suspected 
positive patients and run nearly 200 respiratory clinics.

Since the protection of vaccines became available, RFDS 
teams have delivered more than 60,000 doses to patients 
in hundreds of locations across Australia, in addition to 
the medical transportation of another 95,000 doses to other  
non-RFDS health services.

While COVID demanded attention, those RFDS teams also 
continued to provide the primary healthcare services, mental 
health services, dental care and aeromedical retrieval services 
that so many Australians have come to rely on.

RFDS staff members, volunteers and supporters can rightly 
be proud of this effort. It goes to the heart of our mission: to 
provide high-quality health services to those who live out of 
reach of mainstream services.

None of this would have been possible without the support 
we receive from so many donors, corporate supporters, 
benefactors and governments. We are tremendously 
grateful to all those who have played a role in these 
historic achievements.

But as proud as we are, we also know that the work is 
not complete.

The community lockdowns and border closures that 
protected us from the spread of COVID, have also had  
a long-lasting impact on the health of Australians living in 
the bush. Delayed care, skipped preventative health checks, 
unmanaged chronic disease, limited dental care, and lasting 
mental health impacts all mean that as we come out of 
COVID, we face a substantial ‘COVID backlog’.

As we emerge from COVID, RFDS teams will regroup and 
begin the long task of addressing that backlog of care.  

We know that Australians living in the bush started the 
COVID crisis with poorer health than their city counterparts. 
The RFDS, along with our partners and supporters, will 
work hard to ensure that Australians living far from our 
major cities, do not face a ‘long COVID’ that sets them even 
further behind.

For now, we can only thank all of those who have played 
a role, however large or small, in one of the largest efforts 
ever mounted by the RFDS. Your efforts resulted in a safer 
Australia in the midst of a global pandemic – and that is 
a lasting legacy.

Nev Power 
Federation Chair

Frank Quinlan 
Federation Executive Director
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The global health pandemic has continued to heavily impact countries around 
the world. Here in Australia, the Australian and state governments have used 
restrictions, lockdowns and contact tracing to try to control hotspots and the 
spread of the Delta variant, while embarking on the largest vaccination program 
Australia has ever seen.

The RFDS remains a part of the national health pandemic 
response, working closely with Australian and state governments, 
NACCHO, Aboriginal Medical Services, Primary Health Networks 
(PHNs), Local Hospital Districts and state governments.

In addition to conducting road and aeromedical retrievals for 
confirmed and suspected COVID-positive patients, the RFDS 
has been running community-led vaccination programs in isolated 
and remote communities across Australia. 

This last year has also seen the RFDS assisting in the 
transportation of vaccines (i.e. medical freight) and the deployment 
of RFDS teams to areas outside our regular service footprint, 
where we have been called to assist PHNs and Aboriginal 
Medical Services to rapidly get communities vaccinated. 
This includes in Tasmania, where the state government enlisted 
RFDS assistance to enable 15 buses to travel across the state 
and deliver vaccines into arms.

Some 45% of RFDS vaccinations 
are for Aboriginal and/or Torres 
Strait Islander Peoples.

The RFDS conducted the first transfer of a confirmed COVID-19 
patient in Australia in February of 2020. In March 2020, at the 
onset of the pandemic, a working group with representatives from 
the whole of the RFDS was formed to coordinate our preparation 
and response to COVID-19. This COVID-19 Response Working 
Group has continued to meet regularly and has been instrumental 
in coordination, collaboration, oversight of our personal protective 
equipment (PPE) supplies and more, for the express purpose of 
protecting patients and staff.

Data collection and reporting lines have been well established 
for RFDS COVID-19-related activities, so that the RFDS service 
information can be well reported as part of the national health 
pandemic response. Doing this has provided full transparency 
and enabled us to continually review and improve RFDS services 
for the benefit of the communities we serve. 

COVID-19 response funding

Thank you to the Australian, state and territory governments, 
as well as corporate partners and individual donors, for providing 
additional funds for the RFDS to meet COVID-19 needs. Without 
these funds, the RFDS could not have responded quickly and 
effectively to the COVID-19 pandemic to protect rural and 
remote communities.

National COVID-19 response
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3,845 
Total patient transports

2,798 
Inter-hospital transfers

472 
COVID-19 respiratory  
patients seen in remote areas

52,869 
COVID-19 vaccinations

191 
COVID-19 respiratory  
clinics held

88 
Emergency medical  
evacuations

COVID-19 
Vaccination 
Locations

COVID-19 
Flights
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COVID-19 Response 

We are immensely thankful for 
ongoing Australian Government 
support. This year, this included 
$38 million for COVID-19 response 
funding to prepare and respond to 
needs in rural and remote Australia, 
in addition to our ongoing health 
services contracts.
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Maps

WESTERN 
OPERATIONS

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Western Operations)

CENTRAL 
OPERATIONS

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Central Operations)

QUEENSLAND 
SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Queensland Section)

SOUTH EASTERN 
SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(South Eastern Section)

VICTORIAN SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Victorian Section)TASMANIAN SECTION

The Royal Flying Doctor Service
(Tasmanian Section)

The Royal Flying Doctor Service is a federation 
of seven companies.

23 air bases 
65 clinics held every day 2,370 medical chests
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Flight paths
With the responsibility of providing medical emergency and 
primary healthcare services to Australia’s remote and very 
remote areas, the Royal Flying Doctor Service has established 
flight paths that reach across the continent.

No matter where you are located, the Flying Doctor can get 
help to you within hours.

The RFDS flew 28,953,688 kilometres in the last year – 
equivalent to 34 trips to the moon and back – to deliver  
vital health services. 
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Kalgoorlie

Meekatharra

Alice Springs

Mount Isa

Darwin

Broken Hill
Dubbo

Charleville Roma

Longreach

Port 
Augusta

Melbourne

Perth

Port Hedland

Broome
Townsville

Brisbane

Sydney

Bundaberg

Rockhampton

Launceston

Cairns

Adelaide
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National service delivery 
summary

112,839
patients transported by 
an aeromedical aircraft

23,725
primary health clinics made 
available to country Australia 
(=65 per day)

24,334
face-to-face mental health 
consultations 

124,913
face-to-face primary health 
consultations

337,686
total patient contacts
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63,837
remote telehealth consultations

72,359
patients transported by 
road to hospital or between 
hospitals for specialist care 

11,763
face-to-face dental services 
for oral health, emergency 
and restorative dental care

3,316 
Immunisations in remote areas

2,191
full- and part-time RFDS staff

2,370
medical chests located  
around Australia

+ 54,000 COVID-19 vaccinations 

9Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/21



79 aircraft and  
163 road service 
vehicles

Cessna C208

Pilatus PC-12

Beechcraft King Air

B200/B200SE/B200C/B350C

Road transport

Dental/oral health

Eye care

Cessna C208

Pilatus PC-12

Pilatus PC-24Beechcraft King Air

B200/B200SE/B200C/B350C

Road transport

Dental/oral health

Eye care
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2020/21 PER DAY 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16

Total patient contacts 337,686 925 320,100 370,706 335,125 336,358 282,877 

Aeromedical retrievals 44,829 309 37,666 38,615 38,064 36,799 37,252 

Patient road transportations 72,359 198 62,895 82,081 75,311 70,576 53,159 

Primary healthcare clinics 23,633 65 20,134 21,323 16,209 17,094 9,323 

Dental care consultations 11,763 32 13,627 17,686 21,828 10,832 8,975 

Telehealth consultations 63,837 175 76,508 97,602 88,188 88,541 62,372 

Staff numbers (headcount) 2,191 n/a 1,931 1,755 1,650 1,462 1,358

Staff FTE (full-time equivalent) 1,627 n/a 1,473 1,236 1,237 1,220 1,072

Medical chests 2,370 n/a 2,391 2,342 2,338 2,338 2,245 

COVID-19 continues to have a dramatic impact across the 
nation. For many communities this has meant closing the 
doors to outsiders (and the RFDS was eager not to be a vector 
of transmission into those communities). This has resulted in 
an unavoidable reduction in some services and a backlog of 
primary and preventative care in rural communities, following 
the COVID-19 lockdowns. It will take a long time and a concerted 
effort to catch up.

We have long known that the prevalence of avoidable chronic 
illness is up to three times higher among Australians living in 
remote and rural/remote communities They see doctors at half 
the rate, medical specialists and dentists at one-third the rate, 
and mental health practitioners at one-fifth the rate of persons 
living in the city. Over the coming several years the RFDS will 
have to address the backlog of primary healthcare, which as 
a result of COVID, has been compounded.

Access to health care
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Where it comes from 
The RFDS is a not-for-profit organisation. While supported by the 
Australian, state and territory governments, RFDS relies heavily 
on fundraising, bequests and donations from the community 
to purchase and fit out our aeromedical aircraft, purchase vital 
medical equipment and enhance our operational facilities.

Where it is applied
Providing vital emergency and primary healthcare services to 
rural and remote Australia comes at a cost. The RFDS invests 
in medical and health facilities, aircraft and road service 
vehicles, vital medical equipment and infrastructure to build 
on service capability. The express purpose is to reduce the 
disparity in health outcomes between the city and the bush.

Revenue

New Health Services 

Memory Lane
In May 2021, RFDS Victoria launched its brand-new service, 
Flying Doctor Memory Lane. The service is designed to support 
people in palliative or end-of-life care to visit a place of personal 
significance alongside friends and family, whether that might 
be their home, the beach, or anywhere else that holds special 
memories for them. This free service is 100% donor funded, and 
is staffed by medically trained members of the Mobile Patient 
Care road service teams, all of whom volunteer their time on these 
journeys. Memory Lane also uses uniquely designed transport 
vehicles, which were built with the help of our generous services 
partners, including Amtek, Interleasing, Stryker, Label Concepts 
and ARB. While the Memory Lane team endeavours to make  

every requested journey happen, some destinations proved 

difficult for us to get to with the use of stretchers or wheelchairs,  

such as down onto the sand of a person’s favourite beach. 

Thankfully, the team at Beachwheels Australia recognised this 

barrier and generously donated two of their all-terrain wheelchairs 

to Memory Lane.

There are many challenges in delivering comprehensive health 

services to communities in rural and remote parts of our country. 

The RFDS is always looking to new and innovative ways to 

expand and improve our service delivery, to ensure the best 

possible care is available.

Investing in  
Australia’s health
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$474m

16.48% Other

24.57%
Australian

 Government Funding

28.78% State & Territories Funding

15.56% Commercial Funding

0.44% Capital Funding

2.81% Bequest

11.35% General Donations

REVENUE BY CATEGORY



$414m

EXPENDITURE BY SERVICE

42.84% Inter-Hospital Transfers

14.09% Other Services

13.86% Standby State

0.04%
Remote Consultations – 
Inter-Hospital Transfers

4.55% State Community Clinic

1.62%

Australian
Government

Community Clinic

Medical Chest

3.74%
Standby Commonwealth 

Traditional Base

0.67% Mental

1.13% Dental

3.30%
Remote Consultations –

Primary Evacuations

1.38% COVID-19

0.19%

0.90% Traditional Remote Clinics – Nurse

6.04% Traditional Remote Clinics – GP

5.67% Primary Evacuations
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For example, this year a new occupational therapy (OT) service 
has been operating out of our Port Augusta base in South 
Australia to service the townships of Marree, Oodnadatta, Marla, 
Yalata, Oak Valley and remote stations throughout outback 
South Australia. Working with clients throughout their life, our 
OT provides interventions to ensure they are able to undertake 
daily living activities independently and safely, and complete 
activities that are most meaningful to them. 

RFDS Central Operations has also been trialling an innovative 
workforce model to reconcile the infrequent critical care needs 
of the community with maintaining a team of doctors that is 
effectively used, agile enough to meet fluctuating emergency 
care needs and simultaneously supportive and rewarding for 
the clinicians who call Port Augusta home. This team of Rural 
Generalists has expertise and understanding in rural medicine.  
The team also has emergency skills and training sufficient to 
stabilise and transport remote patients who would be cared for 
by these same doctors in any rural emergency department. 

From Western Australia’s nursing perspective it has all been 
about COVID and accreditation. In Western Australia we have 
COVID-proof equipment bags so they can now all be easily 
decontaminated. We have also introduced freezers to transport 
the Pfizer vaccine safely. 

We are also employing a Clinical Nurse Quality and Infection 
Control post-accreditation to assist with maintenance of 
the NSQHS Standards moving forward. This will initially be  
a part-time 0.8 position.

New and refurbished facilities

The Australian Government recently announced a commitment 
of $9.7 million for a new, purpose-built aeromedical base at 
Mount Isa, in north west Queensland, through the Building Better 
Regions Fund. This funding enables the RFDS to begin planning 
the construction phase of the $12.9 million aeromedical base 
and patient transfer facility, which will drastically enhance service 
delivery in the region.

Additions to fleet

Our Western Australian team has purchased two new helicopters, 
and these will be in use by the end of the year.

Additions to staff

Some 200 new staff were added to the RFDS workforce in the 
last 12 months, most as a direct result of our response to COVID.

EXPENDITURE BY CATEGORY

17.10%
Aviation & Motor 

Vehicle Costs

10.32% Depreciation

2.34% Finance Costs

17.09% Supplier Costs

53.15% Employee Costs

$414m



With the upcoming Australian Government contract renewal and 
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic response, the whole of the RFDS 
family has undertaken an in-depth review of the organisation 
mission/purpose, activities, capabilities/capacity, opportunities, 
risks and threats. With a whole-of-organisation approach, a vision 
towards 2030 that reflects on our 93-year history and looks to the 
future as to how the RFDS can best serve communities of rural 
and remote Australia, was finalised. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has compounded an already existing 
problem of health access and poorer health outcomes in the 
bush. There is now a significant additional backlog of primary 
and preventative health care that must be addressed. 

Our partnership with the Australian Government in addressing 
health needs of the bush is a longstanding one – going back 
decades – and advocacy is ongoing with key stakeholders to 
communicate how the RFDS feels our infrastructure, extensive 
workforce, community trust and professional capacity can 
be used further to better outcomes for those who live in 
country Australia.

In consultation with sections, operations and our stakeholders, 
we have provided input to a wide range of parliamentary and 
policy processes this year, including

> Royal Commission into National Natural Disaster 
Arrangements

> Consultation Paper for the National Preventative 
Health Strategy

> Protecting Critical Infrastructure and Systems of 
National Significance consultations

> Draft National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Suicide Prevention Strategy

> Draft Primary Health Care 10 Year Plan

> Select Committee Inquiry into Regional Australia

> Joint Submission to Senate Standing Committee 
on Community Affairs: Accessibility and Quality of 
Mental Health Services in Rural and Remote Australia

> Hearing Services Program Review

> The Future of Australia’s Aviation Sector

> Development of the National Safety and Quality Primary 
Healthcare (NSQPH) Standards (RFDS specific workshop)

> Regional Airport and Remote Airstrip Upgrade programs

A voice to government

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/2114
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As the RFDS responded to the pandemic, new services and programs were 
rolled out and the RFDS Research and Data teams quickly adapted and created 
new processes and mechanisms to capture data.

The RFDS shares program reports with its stakeholders on  
a half-yearly basis; however, the RFDS’s response to the 
pandemic required more frequent collaboration with the 
stakeholders and hence a transition to weekly and monthly 
reporting cycles.

The investment in our data infrastructure over the past three 
years helped the RFDS to make data-informed decisions 
and have more meaningful conversations with stakeholders. 
As the pandemic hit the Australian shores early last year, we 
collaborated with researchers from a leading university to 
perform stress testing on our response times and resource 
use. These were again aided by access to a good, clean and 
reliable historic dataset. In addition, to enhance our research 
capabilities we rolled out an updated and enhanced research 
version of our service planning and operations tool (SPOT).

The RFDS Data team continues to focus and work on our  
patient-centric data architecture. Last year, we built a data 
pipeline to extract clinical data from our primary healthcare 
systems and these data have been enriched and will be 
eventually consolidated with our Aeromedical, Dental and 
Mental Health datasets. To improve performance and access to 
our datasets, we have incorporated data-modelling strategies.

As the RFDS has achieved maturity in data warehousing and 
using modern business intelligence tools, we have started our 
journey towards self-service analytics and enabling our staff 
members to build custom reports. The RFDS has therefore 
started prioritising and working on data governance, data 
quality and data security initiatives.

Data analysis

Rural and remote nurse-led clinic locations and corresponding 
population concentrations, by RFDS section and operation.



Research and health

Research papers

Since June 2020, the research team has published 10 research 
pieces, including:

> Gonzalez-Chica D, Gillam M, Williams S, Sharma P, 
Leach M, Jones M, et al. Pregnancy-related aeromedical 
retrievals in rural and remote Australia: national evidence 
from the Royal Flying Doctor Service. BMC Health Services 
Research. 2021;21(1):390.

> Walter S, Fassbender K, Easton D, Schwarz M, Gardiner 
FW, Langenberg F, et al. Stroke care equity in rural and 
remote areas – novel strategies. Vessel Plus. 2021;5:27.

> Gardiner FW, Richardson A, Roxburgh C, Gillam M, 
Churilov L, McCuaig R, et al. Characteristics and in-hospital 
outcomes of patients requiring aeromedical retrieval 
for pregnancy, compared to non-retrieved metropolitan 
cohorts. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Obstetrics 
and Gynaecology. 2021;61(4):519–27.

> Gardiner F, Coleman M. A letter from... Western Australia.  
The Lancet Psychiatry. 2020.

> Gardiner FW, Gillam M, Churilov L, Sharma P, Steere M, 
Hannan M, et al. Aeromedical retrieval diagnostic trends 
during a period of Coronavirus 2019 lockdown. Internal 
Medicine Journal. 2020.

The Public Health and Research Unit is driving research opportunities across 
the country and managing the ongoing COVID-19 response.

National RFDS COVID-19 response

The team directly coordinates requests from the Australian 

Government Department of Health, and Aboriginal Health and 

Medical Services, with RFDS staff on the ground to ensure 

COVID-19 clinics are in place to support rural and remote 

communities across Australia. This has been a significant 

ongoing project that has seen tens of thousands of vaccines 

delivered into the arms of residents all over rural and 

remote Australia.

Stroke Project management

The RFDS research team is overseeing the development and 

implementation of the stroke research project, which will 

enable early detection of stroke using portable and lightweight 

CT head scanners. When a person suffers a stroke, it needs 

to be determined if they have suffered from a clot or a bleed 

(both of which have different medical processes to treat), but 

with traditional CT scanners being both expensive and far too 

heavy for aircraft or road vehicles, a patient currently has to be 

brought to a tertiary hospital for the necessary scanning so their 

treatment can be finalised and started. When rural and remote 

patients are sometimes hours from a tertiary hospital, this can 
have devastating consequences. This groundbreaking research 
is supported by an Australian Government $40 million grant from 
The Australian Stroke Alliance (a collaboration of 37 partners) 
and will enable the RFDS and many other first responders across 
Australia to be able to diagnose a stroke victim on the spot, 
thus saving lives and rehabilitation time.
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> Dos Santos A, Balabanski A, Burchill L, Eades S, Parsons 
M, Davis S, et al., editors. Stroke Retrievals in Indigenous 
Australians by The Royal Flying Doctor Service. International 
Journal of Stroke; 2020: Sage Publications, London, 
England.

> Gardiner FW, Bishop L, Churilov L, Collins N, O’Donnell 
J, Coleman M. Mental Health Care for Rural and Remote 
Australians During the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Pandemic. 
Air Medical Journal. 2020;39(6):516–9.

> Gardiner FW, Johns H, Bishop L, Churilov L. Royal  
Flying Doctor Service Coronavirus Disease 2019 Activity 
and Surge Modeling in Australia. Air Medical Journal. 
2020:404–9.

> Gardiner Fw, De Graaff B, Bishop L, Campbell Ja, Mealing 
S, Coleman M. Mental Health Crises In Rural And Remote 
Australia: An Assessment Of Direct Medical Costs Of Air 
Medical Retrievals And The Implications For The Societal 
Burden. Air Medical Journal. 2020;39(5):343–50.

> Luther M, Gardiner FW, Bishop L. Management of Traumatic 
Tooth Avulsion Using 2-Octyl Cyanoacrylate Tissue 
Adhesive Splint: A Case Report. Journal of Emergency 
Nursing. 2020;46(5):693–7.
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National Mental Health Literacy 
Survey: Final Report 

A new research report by the RFDS research team, 
in collaboration with the Australian Catholic University (ACU), 
found that a better understanding of mental health leads to 
better outcomes for individuals and the whole community. 
As a critical provider of mental health services in rural and 
remote Australia, the RFDS sought to comprehensively 
understand the mental health literacy of the rural and remote 
communities it serves, to better inform prevention, early 
intervention, education and ongoing treatment of mental 
disorders.

Improving mental health literacy has been shown to promote 
positive help-seeking attitudes and is significantly positively 
correlated with help-seeking behaviour. Early help-seeking for 
mental disorders is important and has been shown to promote 
early intervention and treatment, which results in improved  
long-term outcomes.

“Poor mental health literacy is 
a significant barrier to being able 
to access and receive support for 
mental health. Each year, one in 
five Australians aged 16-85 years 
experiences mental health distress. 
Less than half will seek help.”
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The RFDS is proud to be preparing to launch our third Reconciliation Action 
Plan (RAP) with the support of Reconciliation Australia. This RAP demonstrates 
a renewed commitment to further embed reconciliation throughout our 
organisation over the next three years and to continue on our reconciliation 
journey, with strong support and leadership from the Federation Board and CEOs.

Our vision for reconciliation includes providing access to 
culturally safe health services that will contribute to longer, 
healthier lives for First Nations people. 

As part of our COVID-19 response we have been working 
closely with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, 
partners and Aboriginal Medical Services, to ensure we are 
providing appropriate support in any way possible. To date, 
the RFDS has delivered 26,604 COVID-19 vaccinations – 
about 45% of these were for Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander Peoples.

As the Delta variant has escalated the risk of infection in 
Australia’s remote Indigenous communities, we have been 
working closely with the Department of Health, Aboriginal 
Medical Services, and First Peoples Disability Network to 
ease any vaccine hesitancy. This has been a community-led 
approach, involving consultation with elders and locals around 
what they feel is best for their community.

The RFDS team headed to Western Australia. In the Kimberley 
region, local man Tyrone Hand was very excited ‘to be the first in 
the Kimberley to receive a vaccine. In the NG Lands we tripled 
expected numbers of vaccinations and our teams reported that 
often people who were initially terrified, would return bringing 
their families and friends with them to get vaccinated too.

Critical action continues to protect Western NSW communities 
where we were called in to assist PHNs and Aboriginal Medical 
Services to rapidly get communities vaccinated, as hotspots 
had spread.

In Broome we worked with key health partners to facilitate 
a special COVID-19 ‘Vaxathon’, with all vaccines and 
consumables provided by the RFDS. A total of 1,199 doses 
were administered by our partners, including Broome Regional 
Aboriginal Medical Service, WA Country Health Service, 
Kimberley Pharmacy Services, Broome and Nirrumbuk 
Environmental and Health Services.

In partnership with the First Peoples Disability Network we 
have been distributing a flyer called COVID Warrior, to provide 
culturally appropriate education around coronavirus and the 
vaccines prior to going out to communities.

Reconciliation Action Plan

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/2118
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Strategic projects

Staff Transferability 

The People & Culture working group engaged a consultant 
from Providence HR to advise on a process ‘transfer’ 
between RFDS organisations nationally. (Noting the RFDS 
is a federation of seven separate legal entities, where 
employees are solely the employee of the entity by which 
they are engaged and there is no legal capacity to transfer 
staff between such entities under the Fair Work Act 2009 
(Cth).) The long-term goal is to encourage internal mobility for 
staff as an alternative to leaving RFDS, ultimately reducing 
pressure on recruitment and training. On an immediate 
basis, the project also provided a Heads of Agreement for 
Emergency Assistance capacity within the RFDS family. This 
provides a framework under which employees from one RFDS 
legal entity can provide assistance to another RFDS legal 
entity when a need arises (e.g. staff shortages as a result 
of pandemic, bushfire, drought, flood).

National Telehealth Platform – Mantle

Over recent years, RFDS Victoria has been successfully using a secure,  
custom-built telehealth platform, ‘Mantle’, to connect clients throughout 
rural Victoria to medical specialists in Melbourne via video conference.

Named after the “Mantle of Safety” that RFDS founder John 
Flynn set out to create some nine decades ago, the service 
removes the barriers of cost, travel and distance when it comes 
to accessing specialist medical care in rural areas.

With the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2019, the 
RFDS recognised the need for expanded telehealth capabilities 
to ensure that our services, particularly our primary healthcare 
services, could still be available to communities we visit, 
even when travel to these areas was necessarily restricted. 
With support and funding from the Australian Government, 
it was agreed to expand the capability and roll out Mantle for 
use nationally, in what has became known as the National 
Telehealth Project.

In Stage 1 of this Project during 2020-21, significant consultation 
with all of the RFDS was undertaken to identify service needs 
and ensure the Mantle platform would be appropriate. Additional 
components have been added to the platform to enable 
enhanced interoperability between systems, strengthen the link 
between existing clinical workflows, and create a comprehensive, 
seamless experience for clinicians providing different services.

Mantle is designed to make telehealth easier for both RFDS 
clinicians and RFDS patients. Enhancements during Stage 1 
of the project mean Mantle now has the functionality to be used 
for scheduled telehealth appointments, as well as unscheduled 
remote consultations, management of medical chests and 
AEDs, and for mental health consultations, incorporating all 
requirements for reporting, case reviews, conferences and 
group work.

Whilst stage 1 of the Mantle telehealth platform has seen 
the creation of a fit-for-purpose tool to meet RFDS needs, 
we are now preparing for stage 2 of the project which focuses on 
take-up of the platform by RFDS clinicians nationwide. Further, 
we are working to align the platform with the development of 
an Electronic Health Record for aeromedical retrievals.
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It has been an exciting year for the Federation Office, with all HR functions 
moving in-house for the first time since the establishment of the Federation 
Office in 2014. 

Whistleblower Policy

The Federation Office is committed to a culture of respect 
and ethical conduct in the way we work and relate to one other, 
and recognises the value and importance of encouraging the 
reporting of wrongdoing. In late 2020, the Federation Office 
entered into an agreement with an external whistleblowing 
reporting service provider Your Call, to provide a 24-hour/
seven-day independent, confidential and safe pathway for the 
reporting of wrongdoing, and introduced a Whistleblower Policy 
and procedure, which was endorsed by the Federation Board at 
its meeting in February 2021.

HR policies & procedures

A full review of the employee HR Manual is underway, a project 
that involves the review of all existing policies, procedures and 
forms with a focus on recruitment and induction processes; 
implementation of new policies, procedures and/or forms; and 
migration of the HR Manual to a digital platform.

Employee Assistance 
& Wellness program

The RFDS Federation Office has engaged a new Employee 
Assistance Program (EAP) provider, PeopleSense, to provide 
employees with 24-hour/seven-day independent and confidential 
professional counselling services, either face to face or via 
telephone and videoconference. PeopleSense has a national 
footprint, enabling employees to access its services while 
travelling.  

We have also launched our first Employee Wellness Program, 
which includes voluntary monthly training sessions facilitated 
by PeopleSense, to provide employees with professional advice 
and support on a range of topics for general health and wellbeing 
and professional effectiveness.

Human resources

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/2120
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The Royal Flying Doctor Service is honoured to have ongoing  
support from so many.

The support from individuals, families, small businesses and 
corporations has been unwavering this last year. We are 
extremely grateful for the generous donations that enable us 
to keep the Flying Doctor flying, driving, consulting online and 
by telehealth, and providing services in any other way needed 
during this challenging period.

We want to thank our volunteers and fundraisers for their 
tireless efforts and great accomplishments despite restrictions 
and lockdowns.

Our partners and supporters

Air BP, a National Major Partner, continues as our 
national fuel supplier, enabling our fleet of 79 aircraft and 
163 road service vehicles to reach the communities that 
the RFDS they have had to tackle.  

Activ8me, a National Major Partner, continues to 
provide connectivity and technology solutions to better 
enable the RFDS to provide services in regional, rural, 
remote and very remote areas.

We want to thank the Australian Government 
for its ongoing services contracts, and 
for an additional $38 million in COVID-19 
response funding, which has enabled us to 
actively protect and serve our communities 
throughout this pandemic.

The RFDS has also been granted more than 
$500,000 in fuel rebates from the Australian 
Government’s Australian Airline Financial 
Relief Package (AAFRP).

TAL, a National Community Partner, continues 
to support the RFDS in its work to achieve better 
outcomes for those in the bush. This includes a 
donation to purchase a rapid antigen testing system 
for our NSW-based company as they have had to 
tackle severe hotspots in regional areas.

AV Jennings proudly supported the Flying Doctor 
during the past year with a contribution of furniture 
packs and a cash donation, which will be used across 
the RFDS family to support the enhancement of health 
services and furnish RFDS bases and housing.
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Brand

The new Endemol Shine Australia-produced TV drama entitled ‘RFDS’ 
premiered on 11 August 2021 on Channel 7 free-to-air TV. The eight-part 
series was very well received and garnered ratings of more than 1.4 million. 
It has also sold in 10 countries. 

#BiggestWaitingRoom campaign

The TV series was flanked by a national, digital brand campaign 
called #TheBiggestWaitingRoom. The purpose of this campaign 
was to communicate the RFDS role in primary healthcare 
delivery (to offset the heavy emergency medical focus of the TV 
show), and to reach new audiences with details of the work of 
the RFDS. 

The campaign ran across Facebook, Instagram, LinkedIn, Twitter 
and also included Google AdWords and banner advertising. 
Three hero video elements were used and 50+ digital assets, 
including stills and animations. The campaign reached more 
than 14 million people across Australia.

What viewers are saying…

“Finally Australian drama. What a way to promote 
a worthy cause – love the show.”  Ray

“Love, love, loved it. Congratulations and well done.  
Can’t wait for next week. This is just what Aussies need 
– an Aussie show that shows how hard our medical staff 
work and how dedicated they are – and showing off our 
great Aussie country.”  Kris

“Everything we hoped for – an Aussie winner. We can 
so relate to the stories. Congratulations to all involved in 
the making. Also to the RFDS. So much respect. Will be 
looking forward to seeing more.”  Dorothy

 
“Brilliant. 10/10.”  Phil McKenzie

“Absolutely bloody fantastic show – loved every minute. 
Great Aussie drama – thank you.”  Michelle

Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/2122
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Have you
heard our
podcast?

The Flying Doctor Podcast

On 12 March 2021, the new Flying Doctor podcast was 
launched. Hosted by LiSTNR, promoted across the 100 radio 
stations owned by Southern Cross Austereo, and fully funded 
by sponsors, 30 episodes have been released to date. 

Hosted by RFDS staff member Lana Mitchell, the podcast 
focuses on real patient, staff and community stories about life 
in the bush.  It is a casual and often intimate conversation about 
the courage, love and resilience of what we fondly call the Aussie 
spirit. Content includes crocodile attacks, helicopter crashes, 
deadly stings, accidents in remote areas, drownings, stroke, 
birth complications and more. 

As of 30 October, the podcast has had more than 80,000 
downloads and has a listenership both in Australia and overseas.

183.1K
follows and posts reached 6,147,862 people,  
an increase of 42.7k% on the previous year. 
New state-based Facebook pages were 
created for each RFDS company, to better 
serve local business needs.

19% 
increase in unique visitors compared to last 
year, summing up to 25,875 followers in 
total.  

31.1K
followers and posts reached 1,119,738 
people – a whopping increase of 999.7k% 
compared to last year.

14K
followers and 2 million tweet impressions, 
an increase of 575%.
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The finance team continues to be responsible for administering 
the national costing system, which calculates the cost of service 
delivery through Australian, state and territory-funded programs.

All Australian Government contract obligations have been 
managed and maintained, with continued work on efficiency and 
productivity improvements. 

Understanding that in today’s digital environment the risk of 
cyber attack is always growing, the RFDS has been working 
on an extensive cyber-security project, sponsored by Willis 
Towers Watson, which includes a thorough data governance and 
risk management assessment framework, incident response plan 
and the implementation of shared training, to ensure that both 
patient and organisation data is always secure.

Finance IT

To drive outcomes for the patients and communities we serve, 
maintaining coordination across the Federation is a vital role that 
has been even more crucial through the COVID-19 pandemic.

Working groups for CEOs, Research, Aviation, Corporate 
Services, Brand & Communications, People & Culture, and the 
Reconciliation Action Plan have been facilitated over the last 
12 months, with two new working groups now being initiated 
(Operations Working Group and a Primary Health Community 
Clinical Working Group). This is in addition to the ongoing 
COVID-19 Response Working Group, and the more casual 
coordination across fundraising, tourism, data, digital and 
bequest management.

We have also met weekly with the Commonwealth Deputy 
Chief Medical Officer and other major primary health COVID-19 
responders across the country and with the Australian 
Government Aviation response.

Coordination
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Directors’ report 
 
The directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the company 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021. The directors report as follows: 
 
Information about the directors and senior management 
 
The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 

Name Particulars 
Mr. Neville Power Director, RFDS of Australia 

  

Dr. John O’Donnell  AM Director, RFDS of Australia 
  

Associate Professor Kristopher Rallah-Baker Director, RFDS of Australia 
  

Mr. Denis Gordon Henry Director, RFDS Victorian Section 
  

Mr. Malcolm White Director, Tasmanian Section 
  

Mr. Peter James De Cure Director, RFDS Central Operations  
(Appointed 10-11-2020) 

Ms. Loretta Reynolds Director, RFDS Central Operations  
(Resigned 10-11-2020) 

Mr. Russell Donald Postle Director, RFDS Queensland Section                 
(Appointed 10-11-2020) 

Mr. Alan Mark Gray Director, RFDS Queensland Section                 
(Resigned 10-11-2020) 

Mr. Samuel Walsh  AO Director, RFDS Western Operations             
(Appointed 10-11-2020) 

Mr. Saul Harben Director, RFDS Western Operations               
(Resigned 10-11-2020) 

Mr. Alexander Scamps Director, RFDS South Eastern Section                       
(Appointed 10-11-2020) 

Mrs. Elaine Ruth Sandow Director, RFDS South Eastern Section                       
(Resigned 10-11-2020) 

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year 
except where stated. 
 
Company Secretary 
Mr. David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
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Directors’ report (continued) 
 
Principal Activities 
 
The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) in the course of the financial year as a health 
care charity and public benevolent institution was to support the RFDS Sections and Operations in the delivery of the 
preventive and other health services for the provision of relief to people in the rural and remote areas of Australia.  No 
significant changes in the nature of the activity occurred during the year. 
 
Review of operations 
 
The company acts as the central coordinating body for member organisations and aims to achieve the coordinated 
provision of health services in Australia by its member organisations.  The day to day operations for the delivery of 
services are carried out by the operating sections. 
 
The operating surplus of the company for the financial year was $209,021 (2020: surplus of $258,998).  No income tax is 
payable as the company is exempt from paying such tax. 
 
The company’s operation for the year included the receipt and distribution amongst its member organisations of 
Commonwealth operational and capital grants, donations, bequest and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the 
company for the mutual benefit of its member organisations and people in the rural and remote areas of Australia. 
 
On 16 April 2020 the company entered into a new Contract for Services with the Commonwealth Government to provide 
additional services to respond to the demand for COVID-19 related services.  The contract provides funding for RFDS 
Sections & Operations to undertake additional services including aeromedical evacuations, GP respiratory clinics and 
delivery of personal protective equipment (PPE).  A contract variation was executed on 16 April 2021 to include 
vaccination services and extended the contract for services to 31 December 2021. 
 
Subsequent events 
 
COVID-19 was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation.  Subsequent to the end of the 
financial year, the quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other governments as well as the travel and trade 
restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries have caused disruption to businesses and economic activity. 
 
The company received additional funding from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY21 and FY22.  The 
company is expected to continue to receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through the contract 
term to 31 December 2021. 
 
The extent of the future impact of COVID 19 on the company’s operational and financial performance will depend on the 
impact of certain developments on the activities of the Royal Flying Doctor Service’s operating sections, including the 
duration and spread of the outbreak and regulations imposed by governments, all of which are uncertain and cannot be 
predicted at this time. 
 
Other than the matter noted above, there has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the 
end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may affect, the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations or the state of the affairs of the company in the future financial years. 
 
Changes in the state of affairs 
 
There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year. 
 
Future developments 
 
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future financial years and 
the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly other 
than matter disclosed in the subsequent events section above, this information has not been disclosed in this report. 
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Directors’ report (continued) 

Indemnification of officers and auditors 

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a 
liability incurred as such as officer or auditors. 

Directors’ meetings 

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director.  During the financial year, 7 meetings were held. 

Directors Meetings eligible to attend Attended 

Mr. Neville Power 7 6 
Dr. John O’Donnell 7 5 
Associate Professor Kristopher Rallah-Baker 7 4 
Mr. Denis Gordon Henry 7 6 
Mr. Malcolm White 7 6 
Mr. Peter James De Cure 4 3 
Ms. Loretta Reynolds 3 3 
Mr. Russell Donald Postle 4 3 
Mr. Alan Mark Gray 3 3 
Mr. Samuel Walsh 4 3 
Mr. Saul Harben 3 3 
Mr. Alexander Scamps 4 4 
Mrs. Elaine Ruth Sandow 3 1 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 4 of the annual report. 

The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair of the Board of Directors 

Malcolm White 
Director 
Chair of Finance & Audit Committee 

Canberra, 4 November 2021 
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AUDITORʼS INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
TO THE DIRECTORS OF ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE OF AUSTRALIA 
ACN 004 213 067 

I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2021 there have 
been no contraventions of:

i. the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

S S WALLACE      
Partner  

PITCHER PARTNERS 
Sydney 

4 November 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORʼS REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE OF AUSTRALIA 
ACN 004 213 067 

Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (“the Entity”), 
which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies, and the directorsʼ declaration. In addition, we have audited the 
Entityʼs compliance with specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. 

In our opinion 

(a) the financial report of the Entity has been prepared in accordance with Division 60 of 
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Entityʼs financial position as at 30 June 2021 and 
of its financial performance for the year then ended; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Regulation 2013.

(b) the financial report agrees to the underlying financial records of the Entity, that have 
been maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 and its regulations for the year ended 30 June 2021; and 

(c) monies received by the Entity as a result of fundraising appeals conducted during the 
year ended 30 June 2021, have been utilised for and applied, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations. 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Report and Compliance with Specific Requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 
1991 section of our report.  We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not for-profits Commission Act 2012
“ACNC Act” and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Boardʼs APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We 
have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  
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Other Information  

Those charged with governance are responsible for the other information.  The other 
information comprises the information included in the Entityʼs annual report for the year ended 
30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditorʼs report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the 
financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this 
regard. 

Responsibilities of Directors for the Financial Report and for compliance with the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 

The directors of the Entity are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements and the ACNC Act, and for compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to enable compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 
1991. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Entityʼs ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entityʼs financial reporting 
process. 

Auditorʼs Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report and Compliance with 
Specific Requirements of the Charitable Fundraising 1991 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a 
whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and the Entity compiled, 
in all material respects, with the specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991,
and to issue an auditorʼs report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of the financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of non-compliance with specific requirements of the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entityʼs internal control.  
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directorʼs use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entityʼs ability 
to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditorʼs report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditorʼs report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance procedure, it is possible that fraud, error 
or non-compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 may occur and not be detected. An 
audit is not designed to detect all weaknesses in the Entityʼs compliance with the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 as an audit is not performed continuously throughout the period and the 
tests are performed on a sample basis. Any projection of the evaluation of the compliance 
procedures to future periods is subject to the risk that the procedures, may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with them may deteriorate. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

S S WALLACE                    PITCHER PARTNERS
Partner        Sydney

4 November 2021 
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Declaration in Respect of Fundraising Appeals 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

I, Neville Power, Chair of the Board of Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in 
my opinion: 

a) the financial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising
appeals;

b) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulation under the Act and the
conditions attached to the authority have been complied with; and

c) the internal controls exercised by the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are appropriate and
effective in accounting for all income received.

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair of the Board of Directors 

Canberra, 4 November 2021 
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Directors’ declaration 

The directors declare that: 

a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable; and

b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012, including compliance with Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30
June 2021 and the performance of the company for the year ended on that date;

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.60.15 of the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profit Commission Regulation 2013. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair of the Board of Directors 

Malcolm White 
Director 
Chair of Finance & Audit Committee 

Canberra, 4 November 2021 
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Directors’ declaration 

The directors declare that: 

a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable; and

b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012, including compliance with Australian Accounting
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and giving a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30
June 2021 and the performance of the company for the year ended on that date;

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.60.15 of the Australian Charities and Not-
for-profit Commission Regulation 2013. 

On behalf of the Directors 

Neville Power 
Chair of the Board of Directors 

Malcolm White 
Director 
Chair of Finance & Audit Committee 

Canberra, 4 November 2021 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
  Note   2021 2020 
      $ $ 
          
Revenue 4   98,614,922 99,046,182 
Distributions to sections and programmes     (94,238,013) (95,405,100) 
Employee benefits expense 5   (2,120,113) (1,992,603) 
National activities expense     (1,254,526) (682,962) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense     (102,825) (138,798) 
Finance Cost     (8,731) (11,577) 
Other administrative expenses     (681,693) (556,144) 
          
Net surplus for the year     209,021 258,998 
          
Other comprehensive income         
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
(Loss)/gain on financial assets     - - 

          
Total comprehensive income for the year     209,021 258,998 
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2021 

  Notes 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

          
Current assets         
Cash and cash equivalents 6   13,896,082 6,494,288 
Trade and other receivables 7   962,884 3,516,353 
Prepayments 8   759,196 6,094,145 
Other financial asset 11   7,027 7,027 
         
Total current assets    15,625,189 16,111,813 
         
Non-current assets        
Right of use assets 9   188,921 257,733 
Plant and equipment 10   22,080 49,171 
Other financial assets 11   14,937 14,937 
         
Total non-current assets    225,938 321,841 
         
Total assets    15,851,127 16,433,654 
         
Current liabilities        
Trade and other payables 12   3,248,530 6,000,115 
Deferred revenue 15   8,594,530 6,537,770 
Lease liabilities 9   49,701 56,482 
Provisions 13   176,199 126,481 
Trust fund liability 14   - 99,562 
         
Total current liabilities    12,068,960 12,820,410 
         
Non-current liabilities        
Lease liabilities 9   157,167 206,868 
Provisions 13   165,618 156,015 
         
Total non-current liabilities    322,785 362,883 
         
Total liabilities    12,391,745 13,183,293 
         
Net assets    3,459,382 3,250,361 
         
Equity        
Reserves 17   250,000 - 
Retained earnings 18   3,209,382 3,250,361 
          
Total equity     3,459,382 3,250,361 
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2021 

  Notes 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

          
Current assets         
Cash and cash equivalents 6   13,896,082 6,494,288 
Trade and other receivables 7   962,884 3,516,353 
Prepayments 8   759,196 6,094,145 
Other financial asset 11   7,027 7,027 
         
Total current assets    15,625,189 16,111,813 
         
Non-current assets        
Right of use assets 9   188,921 257,733 
Plant and equipment 10   22,080 49,171 
Other financial assets 11   14,937 14,937 
         
Total non-current assets    225,938 321,841 
         
Total assets    15,851,127 16,433,654 
         
Current liabilities        
Trade and other payables 12   3,248,530 6,000,115 
Deferred revenue 15   8,594,530 6,537,770 
Lease liabilities 9   49,701 56,482 
Provisions 13   176,199 126,481 
Trust fund liability 14   - 99,562 
         
Total current liabilities    12,068,960 12,820,410 
         
Non-current liabilities        
Lease liabilities 9   157,167 206,868 
Provisions 13   165,618 156,015 
         
Total non-current liabilities    322,785 362,883 
         
Total liabilities    12,391,745 13,183,293 
         
Net assets    3,459,382 3,250,361 
         
Equity        
Reserves 17   250,000 - 
Retained earnings 18   3,209,382 3,250,361 
          
Total equity     3,459,382 3,250,361 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 

  
  Retained 

Earnings Reserves Total Equity 

  $ $ $ 
          
Balance at 1 July 2019   2,931,363 - 2,931,363 
          
Adjustment on transition to AASB 15 & AASB 1058   60,000 - 60,000 
Net surplus for the year   258,998 - 258,998 
Other comprehensive income for the year   - - - 
Total comprehensive income for the year   258,998 - 258,998 
          
Closing balance at 30 June 2020   3,250,361 - 3,250,361 

          
Balance at 1 July 2020   3,250,361 - 3,250,361 
          
Net surplus for the year   209,021 - 209,021 
Other comprehensive Income for the year   - - - 
Total comprehensive income for the year   209,021 - 209,021 
     
Transfers to reserves  (250,000) 250,000 - 
          
Closing balance at 30 June 2021   3,209,382 250,000 3,459,382 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 

  Note 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

          
Cash flows from operating activities         
Receipts from sections     1,658,760 1,128,982 
Receipts from Commonwealth Government     107,405,737 54,121,096 
Donations and legacies     3,533,574 5,752,635 
Other receipts     583,523 235,021 
Payments to suppliers and employees     3,787,564 (2,203,365) 
Payments to sections     (109,510,711) (103,000,539) 
          
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19(b)   7,458,447 (43,966,170) 
          
Cash flows from investing activities         
Interest received     6,507 23,985 
Payments for property, plant and equipment     (6,923) (10,248) 
Dividends received     246 130 
          
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities     (170) 13,867 
          
Cash flows from financing activities         
Repayment of lease liabilities     (56,483) (95,350) 
          
Net cash used in financing activities     (56,483) (95,350) 
          
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     7,401,794 (44,047,653) 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year     6,494,288 50,541,941 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 19(a)   13,896,082 6,494,288 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 

  Note 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 

          
Cash flows from operating activities         
Receipts from sections     1,658,760 1,128,982 
Receipts from Commonwealth Government     107,405,737 54,121,096 
Donations and legacies     3,533,574 5,752,635 
Other receipts     583,523 235,021 
Payments to suppliers and employees     3,787,564 (2,203,365) 
Payments to sections     (109,510,711) (103,000,539) 
          
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 19(b)   7,458,447 (43,966,170) 
          
Cash flows from investing activities         
Interest received     6,507 23,985 
Payments for property, plant and equipment     (6,923) (10,248) 
Dividends received     246 130 
          
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities     (170) 13,867 
          
Cash flows from financing activities         
Repayment of lease liabilities     (56,483) (95,350) 
          
Net cash used in financing activities     (56,483) (95,350) 
          
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     7,401,794 (44,047,653) 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year     6,494,288 50,541,941 
          
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 19(a)   13,896,082 6,494,288 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
1. General Information 

 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company or entity) is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
operating in Australia 
 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows: 
 
Registered office and principal place of business 
Level 2 
10 – 12 Brisbane Ave 
Barton ACT 2600 
 
The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (RFDS) in the course of the financial year as a health 
care charity and public, benevolent institution was to support the RFDS Sections and Operations in the delivery of 
preventive and other health services for the provision of relief to people in the rural and remote areas of Australia.  No 
significant changes in the nature of this activity occurred during the year. 
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 
Statement of compliance 
These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Charites and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements, and comply with other requirements of the law.  For the purpose if preparing the financial statements, 
the company is a not for profit entity. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 4 November 2021. 
 
Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments that 
a measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below.  Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.  All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Going Concern 
The existing Commonwealth Government funding agreement will expire on 30 June 2022. The Commonwealth 
Government may extend this by an additional 1 year. The Company will commence discussions with the Department of 
Health in the coming months with the aim of securing a further multi-year Grant funding agreement. Projected cash flow 
information for the twelve months from the date of approval of these financial statements, taking into consideration the 
above, has been reviewed by the Directors.  
 
Based on these forecasts, the Directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going 
concern basis and have a reasonable expectation that the Company will meet its financial obligations during the next 
twelve months. 
 
Critical accounting judgement and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts in the financial statements.  Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses.  Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of 
future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.  The resulting accounting judgement 
and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results.  The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a  
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount s of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective 
notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
COVID-19 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that COVID-19 has had or may have, on the company based 
on known information.  This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, supply 
chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the company operates.  Other than as addressed in specific notes, there 
does not currently appear to be either any significant impact on the company unfavorably as at the reporting date or 
subsequently as a result of COVID-19. 
 
Revenue recognition 
To determine if a grant contract should be recognised at a point in time or over time, the Company has to determine if 
the contract contains ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations. When assessing if the performance obligations are ‘
sufficiently specific’, the Company has applied significant judgement in this regard by performing a detailed analysis of 
the terms and conditions contained in the grant contracts and review of accompanying documentation (e.g. activity work 
plans). Income recognition from grants received by the Company has been appropriately accounted for under AASB 15 
based on the assessment performed. 
 
Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that 
create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered 
at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the company's 
operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence 
of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The company reassesses 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a 
significant event or significant change in circumstances. 
 
Incremental borrowing rate 
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to 
discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
Such a rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report: 
 

a) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprise cash on hand and demand deposits.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount s of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective 
notes) within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
COVID-19 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that COVID-19 has had or may have, on the company based 
on known information.  This consideration extends to the nature of the products and services offered, customers, supply 
chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the company operates.  Other than as addressed in specific notes, there 
does not currently appear to be either any significant impact on the company unfavorably as at the reporting date or 
subsequently as a result of COVID-19. 
 
Revenue recognition 
To determine if a grant contract should be recognised at a point in time or over time, the Company has to determine if 
the contract contains ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations. When assessing if the performance obligations are ‘
sufficiently specific’, the Company has applied significant judgement in this regard by performing a detailed analysis of 
the terms and conditions contained in the grant contracts and review of accompanying documentation (e.g. activity work 
plans). Income recognition from grants received by the Company has been appropriately accounted for under AASB 15 
based on the assessment performed. 
 
Lease term 
The lease term is a significant component in the measurement of both the right-of-use asset and lease liability. 
Judgement is exercised in determining whether there is reasonable certainty that an option to extend the lease or 
purchase the underlying asset will be exercised, or an option to terminate the lease will not be exercised, when 
ascertaining the periods to be included in the lease term. In determining the lease term, all facts and circumstances that 
create an economical incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option, are considered 
at the lease commencement date. Factors considered may include the importance of the asset to the company's 
operations; comparison of terms and conditions to prevailing market rates; incurrence of significant penalties; existence 
of significant leasehold improvements; and the costs and disruption to replace the asset. The company reassesses 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option, if there is a 
significant event or significant change in circumstances. 
 
Incremental borrowing rate 
Where the interest rate implicit in a lease cannot be readily determined, an incremental borrowing rate is estimated to 
discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease commencement date. 
Such a rate is based on what the company estimates it would have to pay a third party to borrow the funds necessary to 
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar terms, security and economic environment. 
 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report: 
 

a) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash comprise cash on hand and demand deposits.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
b) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
I. Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as 

part of cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 
II. For receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables. 
 
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is classified within operating cash flows. 

 
c) Revenue 

 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 
 
When the Company receives government grants, donations and bequests that are in the scope of AASB 
1058 (being a transaction where the consideration paid to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair 
value principally to enable the Company to further its objectives), it performs an assessment to determine 
if the contract is ‘enforceable’ and contains ‘sufficiently specific’ performance obligations. 
 
In cases where there is an ‘enforceable’ contract with a customer with ‘sufficiently specific’ performance 
obligations, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15 where income is recognised when (or as) the 

 
Performance obligations are satisfied. 
 
In all other cases (where the contract is not ‘enforceable’ or the performance obligations are not 
‘sufficiently specific’), the transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 where the Company: 

 
• Recognises the asset in accordance with the requirements of other relevant applicable Australian 

Account Standards (e.g. AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138). 
 

• Consider whether any other financial statement elements would be recognised (‘related accounts’) in 
accordance with the relevant applicable Australian Accounting Standards including: 

o contributions by owners (AASB 1004) 
o a lease liability (AASB 16) or a financial instrument (AASB 9) 
o a provision (AASB 137) 

 
• Recognises income immediately in profit or loss for the excess of the initial carrying amount of the 

asset over any related amounts recognised. 
 

Interest Income 
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/2144

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia  
 

17 
 

 
 

Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

In-kind contributions 
The Company regularly receives volunteer services as part of its operations.  Under the AASB 1058, private 
sector not-for-profit entities have a policy options to account for donated services at fair value if the fair 
value can be reliably measured.  The Company decided to adopt the policy option not to recognise volunteer 
services.  Accordingly, no amounts are recognised in the financial statements for volunteer services.  As part 
of its operations, the Company receives donation of goods which may then be used in its activities.  AASB 
102 requires the donated inventories to be measured at current replacement cost and any related amounts 
to be accounted for under AASB 1058. 

 
Dividend Income 
Dividends are recognised as income when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
d) Income tax 

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax 
 

e) Trust fund liability 
The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties. 

 
f) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial labilities, as appropriate, on the initial recognition.  Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
Non-derivative financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.  
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets 
are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• the  financial asset is held within a business model whose objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

• the financial assets is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
 
 
 



45Royal Flying Doctor Service Annual Report 2020/21

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia  
 

17 
 

 
 

Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

In-kind contributions 
The Company regularly receives volunteer services as part of its operations.  Under the AASB 1058, private 
sector not-for-profit entities have a policy options to account for donated services at fair value if the fair 
value can be reliably measured.  The Company decided to adopt the policy option not to recognise volunteer 
services.  Accordingly, no amounts are recognised in the financial statements for volunteer services.  As part 
of its operations, the Company receives donation of goods which may then be used in its activities.  AASB 
102 requires the donated inventories to be measured at current replacement cost and any related amounts 
to be accounted for under AASB 1058. 

 
Dividend Income 
Dividends are recognised as income when the right to receive payment is established. 

 
d) Income tax 

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax 
 

e) Trust fund liability 
The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties. 

 
f) Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial labilities, as appropriate, on the initial recognition.  Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
Non-derivative financial assets 
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.  
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery assets within 
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial assets 
are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the 
classification of the financial assets. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• the  financial asset is held within a business model whose objective to hold financial assets 
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 

• the contractual terms of financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

• the financial assets is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Derecognition of financial assets 
The entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity.  On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable 
is recognised in profit and loss. 
 
Classification of financial liabilities 
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or 
at fair value through profit or loss FVTPL.  The entity’s financial liabilities include trade payables measured 
at amortised cost.  
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
The entity derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the entity’s obligation are discharged, 
cancelled or have expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit and loss. 
 
Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any allowance for expected credit losses. Trade receivables are 
generally due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
The entity has applied the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped 
based on days overdue. 
 
Trade payables 
Trade payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods or services 
received by the entity during the reporting period which remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a 
current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability. 

 
g) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position at their historical cost.  Depreciation 
is provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost 
of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value.  Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the 
straight-line method.  The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at 
the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis. 
 
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the 
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit and 
loss. 

 
The following rates re used in the calculation of depreciation: 
Office equipment   15% - 33% 
Leasehold improvements  60% 
Software    33% 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
h) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
i) Lease assets 

 
Right-of-use-assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The right-of-use-asset is measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease 
payment made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
cost incurred, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset, and resorting the site or asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.  Where the Company expects to obtain 
ownership of the lease asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life.  
Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease payments to be make over the term of the lease, discounted using the 
company’s incremental borrowing rate.  Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option 
is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. 
 
When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.  The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
j) Employee benefits 
 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, 
and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being 
measure reliably.  Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 
months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
h) Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is 
material). 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be 
received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 
i) Lease assets 

 
Right-of-use-assets 
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The right-of-use-asset is measured 
at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease 
payment made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct 
cost incurred, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying 
asset, and resorting the site or asset. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter.  Where the Company expects to obtain 
ownership of the lease asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life.  
Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
Lease liabilities 
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease.  The lease liability is initially recognised 
at the present value of the lease payments to be make over the term of the lease, discounted using the 
company’s incremental borrowing rate.  Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be 
paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option 
is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. 
 
When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or to 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.  The variable lease 
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 

 
j) Employee benefits 
 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, 
and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being 
measure reliably.  Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 
months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
2. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months 
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Company in 
respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 

 
k) Impairment of tangible assets 
 

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets 
belongs.  Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also 
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time and value of money and the risks specific to the asset for 
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  If the recoverable amount of an asset (or 
cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately. 
 

l) Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.  The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 

 
m) New or amended accounting standards and interpretations adopted 
 

The company has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standard Boards (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted. 

 
3. Segment Information 

 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the 
provision of support to the operational Sections in the provision of health services in Australia. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
 
4. Revenue 

 
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Operating revenue $ $ 
Contributions from sections 1,560,000 1,560,000 
Australian Government Operational Grants 70,924,000 73,104,804 
Australian Government Mental Health Grant 5,837,000 5,756,000 
Australian Government Dental 4,927,907 5,865,704 
Australian Government GP Registrar 350,000 349,956 
Australian Government MyHR 33,000 - 
Australian Government Better Ageing - 475,000 
Australian Government COVID-19 10,859,166 6,193,404 
Donations and legacies 3,533,574 5,527,634 
      
  98,024,646 98,832,501 
Other revenue     
Interest 6,507 23,985 
Dividend income 246 130 
Other items 583,523 189,566 
      
  590,276 213,681 
      
Total revenue 98,614,922 99,046,182 

 
The company entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth to provide additional services as a consequence of 
COVID-19 in April 2020.  Additional funding was received from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY2020 and 
FY2021.  The company is expected to continue to receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through 
the contract term to 31 December 2021. 
 
Economic dependency for the company is dependent on the ongoing receipt of financial assistance from the 
Commonwealth government to continue delivering its charitable programs.  At the time of this report, the directors of 
the Company were aware that a significant government contract with the Department of Health was set to expire on 30 
June 2022.  Negotiations for a new government contract have commenced in 2021/2022 and the directors have no 
reason to believe that the government will discontinue its support of the company. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
 
4. Revenue 

 
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows: 

  2021 2020 
Operating revenue $ $ 
Contributions from sections 1,560,000 1,560,000 
Australian Government Operational Grants 70,924,000 73,104,804 
Australian Government Mental Health Grant 5,837,000 5,756,000 
Australian Government Dental 4,927,907 5,865,704 
Australian Government GP Registrar 350,000 349,956 
Australian Government MyHR 33,000 - 
Australian Government Better Ageing - 475,000 
Australian Government COVID-19 10,859,166 6,193,404 
Donations and legacies 3,533,574 5,527,634 
      
  98,024,646 98,832,501 
Other revenue     
Interest 6,507 23,985 
Dividend income 246 130 
Other items 583,523 189,566 
      
  590,276 213,681 
      
Total revenue 98,614,922 99,046,182 

 
The company entered into an agreement with the Commonwealth to provide additional services as a consequence of 
COVID-19 in April 2020.  Additional funding was received from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY2020 and 
FY2021.  The company is expected to continue to receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through 
the contract term to 31 December 2021. 
 
Economic dependency for the company is dependent on the ongoing receipt of financial assistance from the 
Commonwealth government to continue delivering its charitable programs.  At the time of this report, the directors of 
the Company were aware that a significant government contract with the Department of Health was set to expire on 30 
June 2022.  Negotiations for a new government contract have commenced in 2021/2022 and the directors have no 
reason to believe that the government will discontinue its support of the company. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
5. Expenses included in (deficit) / surplus from operations: 

 
Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses: 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
      
Depreciation of non-current assets 34,013 49,409 
Depreciation of Right of Use Assets 68,812 89,389 
      
Minimum lease payments 82,108 110,963 
Low value leases expensed as incurred 8,731 5,792 
      
Employee benefits expense:     
      
Post employment benefits     
    - Defined contribution plans 165,037 146,407 
      
Other employee benefits 1,955,076 1,846,196 
      
Total employee benefits expense 2,120,113 1,992,603 

 
6. Cash and cash equivalents 

 

  
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Cash     
      
Federal account 363,387 350,929 
Trust donation account 1,343,065 1,816,161 
Professional funds account 2,024,593 2,520,468 
      
  3,731,045 4,687,558 
Trust Fund Assets     
      
Commonwealth Funds – General Account 10,165,038 1,806,730 
      
  13,896,082 6,494,288 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
7. Trade and other receivables 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Other receivables 580,977 3,333,484 
GST receivable 381,907 182,869 
      
  962,884 3,516,353 

 
The average credit period is 30 days 
 
 

8. Prepayments 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Prepayment to operating sections 585,015 5,984,934 
other prepayment 174,181 109,211 

      
  759,196 6,094,145 

 
Included prepayment balance is an amount for COVID-19 funding paid in advance to the operating sections in respect of 
the contract with the Commonwealth.  A corresponding amount has been recognised by the company as deferred 
revenue. 
 
 

9. Leases 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Right-of-use assets 285,391 347,123 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (96,470) (89,390) 
      
  188,921 257,733 

      
Current     
Lease Liabilities 49,701 56,482 
      
Non Current     
Lease Liabilities 157,167 206,868 
      
  206,868 263,350 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
7. Trade and other receivables 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Other receivables 580,977 3,333,484 
GST receivable 381,907 182,869 
      
  962,884 3,516,353 

 
The average credit period is 30 days 
 
 

8. Prepayments 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Prepayment to operating sections 585,015 5,984,934 
other prepayment 174,181 109,211 

      
  759,196 6,094,145 

 
Included prepayment balance is an amount for COVID-19 funding paid in advance to the operating sections in respect of 
the contract with the Commonwealth.  A corresponding amount has been recognised by the company as deferred 
revenue. 
 
 

9. Leases 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Right-of-use assets 285,391 347,123 
Less: Accumulated depreciation (96,470) (89,390) 
      
  188,921 257,733 

      
Current     
Lease Liabilities 49,701 56,482 
      
Non Current     
Lease Liabilities 157,167 206,868 
      
  206,868 263,350 

  

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia  
 

24 
 

 
 

Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
10. Plant and equipment 

  
Leasehold 

improvements 
Plant and 

equipment  Software 
Total 

at cost at cost at cost 
  $ $ $ $ 
Gross carrying amount         
          
Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 429,271 55,800 496,108 
Additions - 10,248 - 10,248 
Disposals - - - - 
          
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 439,519 55,800 506,356 
          
Balance at 1 July 2020 11,037 439,519 55,800 506,356 
Additions - 7,966 - 7,966 
Disposals - (4,039) - (4,039) 
          
Balance at 30 June 2021 11,037 443,446 55,800 510,283 
          
Accumulated depreciation 
and amortisation         

Balance at 1 July 2019 11,037 387,532 9,207 407,776 
Disposals - - - - 
Depreciation expense - 30,995 18,414 49,409 
          
Balance at 30 June 2020 11,037 418,527 27,621 457,185 
          
Balance at 1 July 2020 11,037 418,527 27,621 457,185 
Disposals - (2,345) - (2,345) 
Depreciation expense - 14,949 18,414 33,362 
          
Balance at 30 June 2021 11,037 431,131 46,035 442,168 
          
Net book value         
As at 30 June 2020 - 20,992 28,179 49,171 
As at 30 June 2021 - 12,315 9,765 22,080 

 
 
Leasehold improvements represent the make good provision and are non-cash 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
11. Other financial assets 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Current     
Financial Asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 7,027 7,027 
      
Non Current     
Rental bond deposit 14,937 14,937 
  21,964 21,964 

 
 

12. Trade and other payables 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Trade payables (i) 1,332,567 493,221 
Accruals and other payables - operating Sections 1,727,916 5,064,654 
Accruals and other payables - Third Party 188,047 442,240 
  3,248,530 6,000,115 

 
(i) The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days.  No interest is charge on overdue payables.  The 

Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the 
credit timeframe. 

 
 

13. Provisions 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Annual leave 163,645 126,481 
Long service leave 144,270 122,113 
Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902 
      
  341,817 282,496 

 
The above liability is recognised and included in the financial statement as follows: 
 

      
Current  176,199 126,481 
Non Current  165,618 156,015 
      
  341,817 282,496 
      
      
  No. No. 
Number of full-time employees at the year end 12 12 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
11. Other financial assets 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Current     
Financial Asset at fair value through other comprehensive income 7,027 7,027 
      
Non Current     
Rental bond deposit 14,937 14,937 
  21,964 21,964 

 
 

12. Trade and other payables 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Trade payables (i) 1,332,567 493,221 
Accruals and other payables - operating Sections 1,727,916 5,064,654 
Accruals and other payables - Third Party 188,047 442,240 
  3,248,530 6,000,115 

 
(i) The average credit period on purchase of goods is 30 days.  No interest is charge on overdue payables.  The 

Company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the 
credit timeframe. 

 
 

13. Provisions 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Annual leave 163,645 126,481 
Long service leave 144,270 122,113 
Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902 
      
  341,817 282,496 

 
The above liability is recognised and included in the financial statement as follows: 
 

      
Current  176,199 126,481 
Non Current  165,618 156,015 
      
  341,817 282,496 
      
      
  No. No. 
Number of full-time employees at the year end 12 12 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
14. Trust fund liability 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Commonwealth Funds - 99,562 
      
  - 99,562 

 
 

15. Deferred revenue 
 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Revenue received Commonwealth Government 8,487,324 6,393,463 
Other revenue in advance 107,206 144,307 
      
Balance at end of the financial year 8,594,529 6,537,770 

 
 
 

16. Contributed equity 
 
There is no contributed equity as the Company is limited by guarantee.  If the Company is wound up, the liability of the 
members is limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the Company.  At 30 June 2021 the number of members was 9 
(2020:9) 
 
 

17. Reserves 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Balance at beginning of the financial year - - 
Transferred from retained earnings 250,000 - 
      
Total reserves 250,000 - 

 
The reserves reflect a bequest received, dedicating to a new annual bursary and national RFDS employees will be invited 
to apply for the bursary to support relevant research projects. 
 
 
 

18. Retained earnings 
  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,250,361 2,931,363 
Adjustment on transaction to AASB 15 & AASB 1058 - 60,000 
Transfers to reserves (250,000) - 
Net surplus for the year 209,021 258,998 
      
Balance at end of the financial year 3,209,382 3,250,361 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
19. Notes to the statement of cash flows 

 
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent includes cash on hand and in banks and 
on deposit.  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statements of financial position as follows: 
 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Federal account 363,387 350,929 
Trust donation account 1,343,065 1,816,161 
Professional funds account 2,024,593 2,520,468 
Commonwealth Funds – General Account 10,165,038 1,806,730 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 13,896,082 6,494,288 

 
(b) Reconciliation of (surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

 
Surplus- for the year 209,021 258,998 
      
Interest received/receivable (6,507) (23,985) 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 102,825 138,798 
Dividend income received/receivable (246) (130) 
Change in the fair value of assets  - 225,000 
Interest expense - 11,577 
      
Changes in net assets and liabilities     
(Increase)/decrease in assets:     
Trade and other receivables 5,334,950 (3,084,765) 
Other assets 2,752,507 (5,922,690) 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:     
Trade and other payables (3,050,184) 4,275,950 
Provisions 59,321 (254) 
Deferred revenue 2,056,760 (39,844,669) 
      
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 7,458,447 (43,966,170) 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
19. Notes to the statement of cash flows 

 
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent includes cash on hand and in banks and 
on deposit.  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is 
reconciled to the related items in the statements of financial position as follows: 
 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
Federal account 363,387 350,929 
Trust donation account 1,343,065 1,816,161 
Professional funds account 2,024,593 2,520,468 
Commonwealth Funds – General Account 10,165,038 1,806,730 
      
Cash and cash equivalents 13,896,082 6,494,288 

 
(b) Reconciliation of (surplus for the year to net cash flows from operating activities 

 
Surplus- for the year 209,021 258,998 
      
Interest received/receivable (6,507) (23,985) 
Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 102,825 138,798 
Dividend income received/receivable (246) (130) 
Change in the fair value of assets  - 225,000 
Interest expense - 11,577 
      
Changes in net assets and liabilities     
(Increase)/decrease in assets:     
Trade and other receivables 5,334,950 (3,084,765) 
Other assets 2,752,507 (5,922,690) 
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:     
Trade and other payables (3,050,184) 4,275,950 
Provisions 59,321 (254) 
Deferred revenue 2,056,760 (39,844,669) 
      
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 7,458,447 (43,966,170) 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
20. Financial Instruments 

 
a) Capital risk management 
The Company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern.  The Company’s overall strategy 
remains unchanged from prior year.  The capital structure of the company consists of cash equivalents and 
retained earnings.  Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the operations of the Royal Flying 
Doctor Service of Australia. 
 
b) Categories of financial instruments 

  
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 3,731,045 22,847,824 
Commonwealth Funds – General Account 10,165,038 11,030,758 
Trade and other receivables 962,884 729,628 
Other financial assets 21,964 21,964 
      
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables 3,248,530 6,000,115 
Trust fund liability - 99,562 

 
c) Financial risk management objectives 
The Company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
the speculative purposes. 
 
d) Significant accounting policies 
Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of 
financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2 of the financial statements. 
 
e) Fair value of financial instruments 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the 
financial statements approximates their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies 
disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements. 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
21. Key management personal compensation 

 
The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were: 
 
Directors 
Neville Power  
John O’Donnell  
Kristopher Rallah-Baker 
Denis Gordon Henry 
Malcolm White  
Peter James De Cure (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Loretta Reynolds (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Russell Donald Postle (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Alan Mark Gray (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Samuel Walsh (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Saul Harben (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Alexander Scamps (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Elaine Ruth Sandow (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
 
Other key management personnel 
Frank Quinlan, Chief Executive Officer 
David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
 
The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below: 
 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
 Aggregate Employee benefits 702,646 790,641 

 
The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year. 
 
 

22. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority Conditions pursuant to the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 

  
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Gross income from fundraising:     
Donations and legacies 3,533,574 5,527,634 
      
Total costs of fundraising (309,413) (134,605) 
      
Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (2,996,574) (5,227,635) 
      
Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 227,587 165,394 
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Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
21. Key management personal compensation 

 
The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were: 
 
Directors 
Neville Power  
John O’Donnell  
Kristopher Rallah-Baker 
Denis Gordon Henry 
Malcolm White  
Peter James De Cure (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Loretta Reynolds (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Russell Donald Postle (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Alan Mark Gray (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Samuel Walsh (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Saul Harben (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
Alexander Scamps (Appointed 10 November 2020) 
Elaine Ruth Sandow (Resigned 10 November 2020) 
 
Other key management personnel 
Frank Quinlan, Chief Executive Officer 
David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
 
The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below: 
 

  2021 2020 
  $ $ 
 Aggregate Employee benefits 702,646 790,641 

 
The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year. 
 
 

22. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority Conditions pursuant to the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 

  
2021 2020 

$ $ 
Gross income from fundraising:     
Donations and legacies 3,533,574 5,527,634 
      
Total costs of fundraising (309,413) (134,605) 
      
Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (2,996,574) (5,227,635) 
      
Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 227,587 165,394 

 
  

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia  
 

30 
 

 
 

Notes to financial statements 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2021 

 
22.  Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority Conditions pursuant to the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 (continued) 

  % % 
      
Total costs to gross income from fundraising 8.76% 2.44% 
      
Net excess to gross income from fundraising 6.44% 2.99% 
      
Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 90.64% 97.49% 
      
Total disbursements for projects to total income received 84.80% 94.57% 

 
 

23. Related party disclosures 
 
During the current financial year, there were no related party transactions or balances at the year-end other than 
transaction with the RFDS Sections and Operations which are disclosed in this financial report. 
 
The RFDS Sections and Operations are: 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia Central Operations  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Queensland Section)  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (South Eastern Section)  
Royal Flying Doctor Service Tasmania Ltd 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Victorian Section)  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (Western Operations) 
 
 

24. Subsequent events 
 
COVID-19 was declared a pandemic in March 2020 by the World Health Organisation.  Subsequent to the end of the 
financial year, the quarantine measures imposed by the Australian and other governments as well as the travel and trade 
restrictions imposed by Australia and other countries have caused disruption to businesses and economic activity. 
 
The company received additional funding from the Commonwealth in respect of COVID-19 in FY21 and FY22.  The 
company is expected to continue to receive additional funding as and when services are delivered through the contract 
term to 31 December 2021. 
 
The extent of the future impact of COVID-19 on the company’s operational and financial performance will depend on 
the impact of certain developments on the activities of the Royal Flying Doctor Service’s operating sections, including 
the duration and spread of the outbreak and regulations imposed by governments, all of which are uncertain and cannot 
be predicted at this time. 
 
Other than the matter noted above, there has not been any other matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the 
end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may affect, the operations of the company, the results of those 
operations or the state of the affairs of the company in the future financial years. 
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How you can help >
While the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives some support from Australian,  

state and territory governments, we rely heavily on fundraising and donations from the 

community to purchase and medically equip our aircraft and to support other health initiatives.

To make a donation:

> Send a cheque (made payable to the  
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
PO Box 4350 
Kingston ACT 2604

> Phone us on 02 6269 5500 or 1800 467 435

> Visit flyingdoctor.org.au to make an online donation

 flyingdoctor.org.au

 facebook.com/royalflyingdoctorservice

 @RoyalFlyingDoc

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia
Federation Office 
Level 2, 10–12 Brisbane Avenue, 
Barton ACT 2600 
T 02 6269 5500 
W www.flyingdoctor.org.au


